Measuring Affordability from the Patient's Perspective

Review Draft for Comment June 2, 2014



This report is funded by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation under grant #71278

Contents

Executive Summary
Urgent need to act on healthcare cost and affordability5
NQF action on understanding healthcare cost and affordability5
Patient perspectives on affordability
Affordability centers on out of pocket costs
Affordability does not exist in a vacuum6
Affordability differs for different types of health decisions7
Buying insurance
Staying healthy8
Getting better8
Managing ongoing conditions or living with disease9
Dealing with serious illness9
Common challenges facing patients
Difficulty navigating the health system10
Understanding what questions to ask10
Confusing and uncoordinated healthcare billing10
Finding out prices and costs in advance11
Difficulty obtaining meaningful, usable information about quality11
Tailoring information to people's circumstances and needs11
Moving forward: Everyone has a role to play12
Appendix A: Measuring Affordability Panel and NQF Staff14
References

Measuring Affordability from the Patient's Perspective

DRAFT PAPER FOR REVIEW

Executive Summary

Rising healthcare costs burdening the nation's economy and impacting the competitiveness of U.S. businesses, the sustainability of federal and state government finances, and family's budgets. To understand the impacts healthcare costs are having on patients and consumers, the National Quality Forum (NQF), with support from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, organized a two-day meeting that brought together key stakeholders including patients, consumers, health plans, researchers, clinicians, and community health experts. The goal of the meeting was to explore what healthcare affordability means from the consumer and patient perspective and to understand what information patients and consumers need to find affordable care.

Given significant concerns about people's ability to pay for healthcare, a primary focus of the meeting was defining affordability from a patient and consumer point of view. During the meeting discussions, consumer and patient representatives emphasized that they first judged whether care was affordable based on what their out of pocket costs for healthcare were relative to their family's overall budget, taking into consideration tradeoffs that may need to be made in order to afford healthcare and make ends meet. However, cost alone was not the only factor considered, as consumer and patient representatives also emphasized that they were interested in high quality care at the best possible cost, not low quality care at low cost. Adding additional complexity to understanding affordability, the consumer and patient representatives highlighted that different groups of patients will be making different healthcare decisions based on their health status, with those who minimally interact with the healthcare system operating differently from those who engage the healthcare system frequently.

Context is critical, as consumers and patients view affordability differently based on the particular situation, such as buying insurance, selecting preventive screenings to stay healthy, seeking treatment for an urgent ailment, managing chronic illness, or dealing with end-of-life issues. Each of these situations introduces different complexities, has different challenges in navigating the health care system, and requires different information for decisionmaking. Lack of availability to needed information can often present a barrier in making informed choices, and consumers and patients are often unsure of what questions to ask to get the answers they need.

While this meeting focused on the patient and consumer perspective, it is clear that patients alone cannot accomplish the needed changes; rather, sustainable change will require effort from all stakeholders—health plans, purchasers and employers, providers, suppliers and industry, and communities. Each group has different actions they can take to improve the affordability of healthcare, and each group has different resources that can be brought to bear. Yet, there is promise that coordinated action should help ensure health care is affordable for patients and the nation.

Urgent need to act on healthcare cost and affordability

Rising healthcare costs have become a significant burden to the nation, with healthcare now comprising approximately 18 percent of the nation's economy.¹ Beyond national figures, healthcare costs are having real impacts on the competitiveness of U.S. businesses, on the sustainability of federal and state government finances, and on family's budgets. Families have seen their health insurance premiums increase by almost 130 percent in the past decade while their out-of-pocket spending has risen by almost 80 percent.² Because of these increases, families' real income has been essentially flat for the past decade as all increases in people's wages and income have been consumed by growing healthcare costs.³

As patients and consumers shoulder greater healthcare costs, they are increasingly shopping around for high quality healthcare they can afford. Yet, people rarely are able to find the information they need, and, even when they can, the information may not be understandable, or they encounter barriers in using it to reduce their bills. At the same time, people often do not know that there are options—although not always good options—and that the final decision is theirs to make.

NQF action on understanding healthcare cost and affordability

To understand the impacts healthcare costs are having on patients and consumers, the National Quality Forum (NQF), with support from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, organized a two-day meeting that brought together key stakeholders including patients and families (some who interact with the health system regularly because of serious health conditions), consumers, health plans, researchers, clinicians, and community health experts. The goal of the meeting was to explore what healthcare affordability means from the consumer and patient perspective and to understand what information patients and consumers need to find affordable care.

This project is part of a portfolio at NQF aimed at improving healthcare affordability, with other projects including:

- *Linking Cost and Quality*: Exploring approaches to combine cost and quality information and identifying best practices in producing and communicating this information.
- *Cost and Resource* Use: Recognizing and endorsing new cost and resource use measures.
- *Episode Grouper Evaluation Criteria*: Understanding the best approaches for collecting costs information for episodes of care.
- MAP Affordability Task Force: Selecting a suite of measures for value-based purchasing and public programs that can help promote affordability.

This portfolio of projects is intended to work together to provide tools and guidance to multiple stakeholders in controlling costs while improving quality and people's health. The current project undergirds these efforts by centering attention on the patient and their needs.

Patient perspectives on affordability

Given significant concerns about people's ability to pay for healthcare, a primary focus of the meeting was defining affordability from a patient and consumer point of view. Understanding people's views is critical to providing useful information to consumers, and allows for assessment of whether different initiatives affect the affordability of care. The committee recognized that individuals will have different perspectives depending on whether they are currently receiving healthcare services (patients), are shopping around and considering different healthcare options (consumers), or are part of the broader community (all people). This report largely focuses on the consumer and patient perspective, but does include other terms where appropriate.

Affordability centers on out of pocket costs

During the meeting discussions, consumer and patient representatives emphasized that they first judged whether care was affordable based on how much of their budget they spent on healthcare. Summarizing this from a financial perspective, patient affordability can be viewed as:

 $Patient Affordability = \frac{Out \ of \ pocket \ costs}{Household \ budget}$

In this equation, out-of-pocket costs include the multiple ways that patients spend on healthcare: health insurance premiums, deductibles, co-pays or co-insurance, and paying for healthcare services not covered by insurance. The denominator captures a person's total earnings from their work and other sources. The meeting participants highlighted this must be adjusted for other obligations on their income, such as debt from prior medical bills and family responsibilities.

Multiple sources support this definition of affordability. First, this equation fits with an intuitive understanding of affordability—the more that a household budget goes toward healthcare, the more that people have to make trade-offs with other expenses. Second, it is currently used in public policies and is being used to determine whether health insurance options are affordable under state and federal health reform efforts.⁴ Furthermore, it is consistent with prior research, with multiple focus group and consumer testing studies finding that people are concerned about their total out of pocket costs, and find this information meaningful and useful.^{5,6,7,8}

Affordability does not exist in a vacuum

While appearing simple, there are several complexities in applying the model in practice. Most notably, this model assumes high quality care at all settings, including health outcomes, patient experience and patient engagement, and safety. Patient and consumer representatives at the meeting stressed that they were interested in high quality care at the best possible cost, not low quality care at low cost.

While patients and consumers were mainly interested in their out of pocket costs when calculating affordability, they did account for other factors in their decisions. For example, patients consider indirect costs, like inconvenience, missing work or other commitments, managing childcare and eldercare

responsibilities, and overall effort in navigating their care. Furthermore, several patients noted that they were interested in the total costs paid (by the health plan and themselves) for a given treatment, clinician, or hospital because higher total costs would eventually affect their insurance premiums.

An important consideration was whether care was needed or appropriate. Consumers felt that spending money on care that is not needed or inappropriate negatively impacted healthcare's affordability, as those costs did not help them get better. Yet, there was uncertainty in identifying unnecessary or inappropriate care. For instance, consumers reported that they were often unsure whether they should go to the emergency room for a concern or visit their doctor, and they were unsure how to get information to help make that decision. This example has to be viewed based on people's overall perceptions of risk and benefit, as some people are more comfortable waiting to see if they got better while others preferred the certainty of a medical examination.

Affordability differs for different types of health decisions

Different groups of consumers and patients will be making different healthcare decisions based on their health status. For example, some people are not using many healthcare services, such as younger, healthy adults or "young invincibles," while other people have significant health needs, such "frequent flyers" to hospitals or emergency rooms.⁹ As an example of the differences in decision making, behavioral economics research shows that people facing repeated decisions, like those with a chronic disease, will have different decision making processes than those dealing with acute conditions.¹⁰

There are a variety of healthcare decisions—for physical or behavioral health—that a patient might face, including:¹¹

- Buying insurance (whether on exchanges, through employer, or with public program)
- Staying healthy (prevention and wellness)
- Getting better (acute care, emergency and urgent care, scheduled and unscheduled care)
- Managing ongoing condition/living with disease (chronic care)
- Dealing with serious illness (ex. care at the end of life)

Figure 1 illustrates these different decisions and highlights that they take place in the context of a person's overall life, underscoring that affordability decisions do not take place in a vacuum. The remainder of this section describes the considerations for each decision.





Buying insurance

Currently, consumers may buy coverage through their employer; purchase a plan on the newly established health insurance exchanges; or be eligible for care through Medicare, Medicaid, Veterans Health Administration, or other public programs. When there are multiple options for consumers to choose between, people need information on the plan's cost (premiums and cost-sharing), covered services and benefits, and overall quality. This information has changed in recent years with the introduction of coverage facts labels, which were established by the Affordable Care Act. Yet, further information is still needed to understand exactly how an insurance plan affects an individual consumer, with their specific health conditions, medications, and regular healthcare services.

Staying healthy

There are several ways that clinical care can help people stay healthy or avoid specific conditions, but consumers may not have the information they need to decide what tests, screenings, scans, or services are appropriate for them. As a result, consumers and patients can be subjected to unnecessary tests with no evidence of benefit and possible risk of harm; alternatively, consumers and patients may not be getting the tests they need, leading to future costs or harm. Addressing this situation requires patients and providers to engage in a shared-decision making process, with communication of more information on what is appropriate and where options exist to prevent a given condition.

Getting better

When seeking unscheduled treatment for an urgent or emergent medical condition, patients may not have time to consider different options for providers or treatments. This is compounded for extremely serious or life-threatening conditions, as noted in the serious illness section. In the middle of these situations, cost becomes a small factor in determining where and when treatment is obtained.¹² However, many conditions are less urgent and allow for consumers and patients to have a choice about

NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

NQF REVIEW DRAFT—Comments due by July 02, 2014 by 6:00 PM ET.

when and how they seek treatment. For treatment of such conditions, consumers and patients increasingly are making decisions based on cost and quality, including the choice of clinician or hospital.

There is limited data available when selecting clinicians, hospitals, or post-acute care. For consumers with insurance, some information on cost and quality may be available from their health plan. Other information on cost and quality may also be provided by states, federal agencies, non-profits, and commercial websites. These sources vary in their scientific accuracy, comprehensiveness of information, and usability. However, their proliferation suggests that there is untapped demand in using this information.

Beyond the choice of clinicians or hospitals, consumers and patients may also have the opportunity to consider different treatment options. When there is no clear best option, clinicians are increasingly engaging patients in shared-decision making process to discuss the different risks and benefits of each treatment possibility. For example, low back pain may be treated with physical therapy or surgery, and shared decision making could help consumers decide which option is right for them. Clinicians may not always address cost in the conversation, but evidence suggests that involved patients often choose less invasive options.¹³

Managing ongoing conditions or living with disease

Patients diagnosed with chronic conditions will have an ongoing relationship with the health system in order to manage their condition and treatment. For example, such patients may require regular medication therapy or regular visits to check their current status. Individuals with more extensive healthcare needs will be more focused on healthcare costs because their out of pocket expenses will be significantly larger. To help ensure their care is affordable, individuals with chronic disease will need information about their treatments—whether their medications are on their plan's formulary, whether options are available, and how to do their part to manage the disease. As they often see multiple providers, they also will need assistance coordinating their care and ensuring that necessary clinical information is shared to all of their providers.

Dealing with serious illness

As noted earlier, patients dealing with life-threatening conditions or extremely serious illnesses will view affordability in a different light, as healthcare costs may be only a small part of a patient's decisionmaking process. Beyond costs, patients managing life-limiting illnesses have additional issues to navigate. Under these difficult circumstances, people have to make decisions about what clinical treatments to pursue or not, how to take advantage of palliative care options to manage their pain or symptoms, and how to ensure that care is respectful of their preferences. Despite progress, there is still evidence that care at the end of life does not align with people's goals, such as passing away at home versus in the hospital.¹⁴ Furthermore, patients with serious illness may require ongoing caregiving support, either through family and friends or through home and community-based services. These can be costly to obtain (either directly or indirectly through burdens on informal caregivers), and there is little information to help patients and their families make these decisions under stressful circumstances.

Common challenges facing patients

Regardless of the type of decision, the meeting participants highlighted similar challenges in accessing affordable care.

Difficulty navigating the health system

An overarching theme throughout the meeting was that healthcare is complex and difficult to navigate. There are many causes for this—care is fragmented among many providers, clinicians may not communicate about a patient's care, and it is not clear what options people have for their clinician or treatment. These problems are compounded when patients are struggling with an illness and its associated stresses.

However, unless patients and consumers can navigate the system, they will be unable to be active participants in improving the affordability of their care. Technology can provide an opportunity for improving the situation, with new web tools for providing information on options for clinicians and healthcare organizations, connecting consumers and patients to each other, or considering options for healthcare decisions. However, consumers need to be involved in the development of these tools in order to ensure that they are accessible, understandable, and actionable when making healthcare decisions.

Understanding what questions to ask

Consumers noted the need for resources to help them understand what information they need to determine if care is affordable. As one panel member noted, "I don't know what I don't know." The panel was clear that many people don't even know the questions to ask, what resources are available to them, that there are tools that could be useful to them as they navigate healthcare decisions, or how to use available tools. In one survey, when consumers and patients were asked about their confidence in finding more qualified doctors by using quality data and quality information, about 60 percent of participants believed that they could do so. When asked about their confidence in getting lower cost healthcare by comparing cost information and shopping for better prices, only about one-third believed that they could actually reduce the cost of healthcare.¹⁵ Furthermore, studies suggest that patients need basic information about their condition first, which can then serve as context when comparing treatment options, providers, or hospitals.¹⁶

Confusing and uncoordinated healthcare billing

Consumers need information to help them understand billing and what to expect. Consumers expressed frustration with the current way they are billed for healthcare services and the difficulty they experience when trying to understand their bills. There is a need for consumer-friendly language for billing—the terms are not clearly explained and have different meanings that those used in other parts of everyday life. This is compounded by the fact that people receive multiple bills for each treatment, such as different bills for radiology or anesthesia or an overall hospital stay. For patients with complex diseases that see multiple clinicians, each of them will likely send their own bill. These patients may set up monthly payment plans to manage the bills, but may juggle multiple bills from different providers, each

with a separate minimum monthly payment. Adding to the complexity, some clinicians may allow patients to set up a monthly payment plan, while others may not. Confusing billing makes care seem less affordable, as well as making the healthcare system harder to navigate.

Finding out prices and costs in advance

The current lack of price transparency makes it difficult for consumers to know what care will cost ahead of time.¹⁷ Since healthcare prices for private health insurance are generally negotiated, they are often not disclosed to the public. For example, most healthcare facilities, imaging centers, and clinician practices do not have price information publicly available for frequently performed procedures.¹⁸ Patients are not alone in not knowing this information—their clinician also often does not know the negotiated price of a given treatment or service. The panel noted that the development of tools such as total estimated price of the service, the provider's network status, and the patient's estimated out-of-pocket responsibility would help patients to make informed decisions and better understand if their decisions are affordable.¹⁹ Some price and cost resources are available—such as through employers, insurance plans, or state efforts—and more work is needed to make these tools consumer-friendly and provide cost and quality in an easy to use format.^{20,21}

Difficulty obtaining meaningful, usable information about quality

Similar to other aspects of people's lives, consumers and patients do not want to make healthcare decisions on price alone; they want to know if a service will be safe, if it will improve their health, and if they will be treated with respect during the process. Yet, currently available tools do not support this goal—few patients and consumers are aware of publicly reported information of healthcare quality, and fewer still are able to apply it to their particular healthcare decision.^{22,23} Prior research has uncovered the multiple factors for effectively presenting quality information—the information must be easy to use, meaningful to a patient's situation, understandable, and from a trusted source of information—and more work is needed to address these specific concerns.²⁴ The patient participants at the meeting consistently highlighted that they were interested in more information on quality and would like to know where to access that data.

Tailoring information to people's circumstances and needs

Different consumers and patients have different capabilities for understanding healthcare information, with different levels of healthy literacy, overall literacy, numeracy, and health benefits literacy varying widely across the patients.²⁵ This is partially due to the complexity of modern medicine, as well as the intricacies of the benefit structure of health plans. Tools will need to be customized based on people's health literacy in order to have the greatest impact, and clinicians and other professionals working with the patient should consider customized communication based on health literacy.

However, the panel noted that consumers will differ in what information they would like, and the same consumer may seek different information depending on both the reasons for which he or she is seeking healthcare and his or her personal circumstances (ex. available support network, current financial status, current medical conditions, and other factors).^{26,27} As well, patients are at different levels of

engagement with their healthcare, and more engaged or empowered patients may be more willing to seek out information and apply it to their care.²⁸ Furthermore, insured and uninsured patients will have different concerns and need for information.

As consumers obtain and analyze cost and quality information, each individual will consider it differently as an input into making a healthcare decision. One decisionmaking framework discussed at the meeting was the health belief model (see Table 1), which describes the multiple factors people weigh in any health or healthcare decision.²⁹ The model is useful for identifying specific factors patients and consumers consider, recognizing how perspectives differ for those factors, and outlining potential strategies for assisting people as they weigh each factor.

Factors	Strategies for affecting that factor
Perceptions about possibility of getting a disease or	Help people understand their real susceptibility if it differs from
condition (susceptibility)	perception
Perceptions on severity of conditions and its	Communications about the consequences of the condition
consequences	
Perceptions of the benefits of treatments	Help people understand what action to take and how to do so,
	communicate the potential positive effects and risks
Perceived barriers to care and costs (direct and	Identify and reduce the perceived costs and barriers to care
indirect)	
Communication strategies, reminders, and other	Increase awareness through information, providing how-to
cues that could encourage action	information
Confidence in ability to take action	Provide training and supports for self care

Table 1. Summary of health belief model, which describes the factors individuals weigh in making a health decision.

Adapted from National Institute of Health. ³⁰

Moving forward: Everyone has a role to play

While this meeting focused on the patient and consumer perspective, it is clear that patients alone cannot accomplish the needed changes. Rather, sustainable change will require effort from all stakeholders—health plans, purchasers and employers, providers, suppliers and industry, and communities. Each group has different actions they can take to improve the affordability of healthcare, and each group has different resources that can be brought to bear. Examples where further action could occur include:

• Clinicians can provide information and help patients understand how it affects their particular situation, perhaps through a shared-decision making model. Patients at the meeting reiterated that their clinician is their preferred and trusted source of information. However, the panel noted that clinicians may not have the tools or training they need to provide patients with necessary price information.³¹ The panel noted that clinicians may struggle with the concept of having a conversation about the cost of care and may not know what the total cost of care will be, a patient's insurance status, or where a patient is in regards to deductible or out of pocket maximum.

- Health insurance companies could share estimates of expected expenses and provide resources to help consumers understand what care is covered and what expenses they might be responsible for.
- Federal and state agencies, non-profits, health plans, healthcare organizations, and others can increase the amount of cost and quality information available online. Patients are increasingly turning to the internet for health information, with almost three-quarters reporting they used the internet to find information in the past year. ³²
- Hospitals and clinicians can provide more transparent pricing and provide consumers with "good faith estimates" about the cost of care before they agree to a service.
- Other patients in similar situations are critical for helping people understand what options mean for their life and can help connect people to healthcare and community resources.^{33,34}
- The educational system can integrate health concepts and health benefits concepts into the curriculum in secondary education and beyond to increase understanding across society.
- Independent non-profit organizations, free from conflict of interest or financial incentives, can assist in advancing cultural change and transparency in how purchasers, payers, the federal government, providers, and other stakeholders share cost and quality information.

The actions of all stakeholders can help to ensure healthcare remains affordable for patients and their families.

Appendix A: Measuring Affordability Panel and NQF Staff

PANEL MEMBERS

Elizabeth Mort, MD, MPH (Co-Chair)

Massachusetts General Hospital, Massachusetts General Physician Organization Boston, MA

Melissa Thomason (Co-Chair) Vidant Health Greenville, NC

Deborah Dahl, BSE, MBA Banner Health Phoenix, AZ

Maureen Ediger Children's Hospital of Colorado Denver, CO

Tina Frontera, RN, MHA MN Community Measurement Minneapolis, MN

Jessica Greene, PhD

George Washington University Washington, DC

Alyssa Keefe, MPP

California Hospital Association Washington, DC

Lisa Latts, MD, MSPH, MBA, FACP LML Health Solutions Denver, CO

Tayler Lofquist Beekeeper Group Washington, DC

Marci Nielsen, PhD, MPH Patient Centered Primary Care Collaborative Washington, DC **Carrie Nelson, MD, MS, FAAFP** Advocate Physician Partners Rolling Meadows, IL

Cynthia Rolfe Blue Cross and Blue Shield Association Chicago, IL

Paul Sierzenski, MD, RDMS, FACEP Christiana Care Health System Wilmington, DE

Alison Shippy, MPH National Partnership for Women & Families Washington, DC

Joseph Singer, MD HealthCore, Inc. Wilmington, DE

Kris Soegaard Minnesota Health Action Group Bloomington, MN

Adam Thompson Charlottesville, VA

Lina Walker, PhD AARP Washington, DC

Ronald Walters, MD, MBA, MHA, MS The University of Texas M. D. Anderson Cancer Center Houston, TX

Corey Wilborn Jacksonville, FL

NQF STAFF

Helen Burstin, MD, MPH Senior Vice President Performance Measures

Robert Saunders, PhD Senior Director Strategic Partnerships

Taroon Amin, MA, MPH Senior Director Performance Measures

Ashlie Wilbon, RN, MPH Managing Director Performance Measures

Lindsey Tighe, MS Senior Project Manager Performance Measures

Erin O'Rourke Project Manager Strategic Partnerships

Vy Luong Project Analyst Performance Measures

References

CMS National Health Expenditure Accounts. Available at https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/Downloads/Proj2012.pdf

⁴ See Blumberg, L.J., J. Holahan, J. Hadley, & K. Nordahl. 2007. Setting A Standard Of Affordability For Health Insurance Coverage. Health Affairs 26(4): w463-w473; and insurance subsidy calculations for insurance exchanges established by the Affordable Care Act.

⁵ Schleifer D. Patients' wiews on reforming the Physician Fee-For-Service Payment System. *Health* Affairs Blog, February 28, 2014. Available at: http://healthaffairs.org/blog/2014/02/28/patients-views-onreforming-the-physician-fee-for-service-payment-system/ and Public Agenda & Kettering Foundation. Curbing Healthcare Costs: Are Citizens ready to wrestle with tough choices? New York, NY: Public Agenda; 2014. Available at:

http://www.publicagenda.org/files/CurbingHealthCareCosts PublicAgenda 2014.pdf . Last accessed May 2014.

⁶ Aligning Forces for Quality (AF4Q). Consumer Beliefs and Use of Information about Healthcare Cost, Resource Use, and Value. Princeton, NJ:Robert Wood Johnson Foundation; 2012. Available at: http://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/farm/reports/issue briefs/2012/rwjf402126 . Last accessed Mav 2014.

Quincy L. What's behind the door: Consumers' difficulties in selecting health plans. Yonkers, NY: Consumers Union; 2012. Available at

http://consumersunion.org/pub/pdf/Consumer%20Difficulties%20Selecting%20Health%20Plans%20Jan% 202012.pdf. Last accessed May 2014.

⁸ Yegian, J.M., P. Dardess, M. Shannon, & K.L. Carman. 2013. Engaged patients will need comparative physician-level quality data and information about their out-of-pocket costs. Health Affairs 32(2): 328-337.

Cohen SB, Uberoi M. Differentials in the Concentration in the Level of Health Expenditures across Population Subgroups in the U.S., 2010. Rockville, MD:Agency for Healthcare Research & Quality (AHRQ): 2013, AHRQ Statistical Brief #421, Available at

http://meps.ahrg.gov/mepsweb/data files/publications/st421/stat421.shtml. Last accessed May 2014. ¹⁰ G. Loewenstein, K.G. Volpp, D.A. Asch. 2012. Incentives in health: different prescriptions for physicians

and patients. JAMA 307(13):1375-1376. ¹¹ This framework draws on existing work, such as the FACCT domains: staying healthy, getting better, living with illness or disability, and coping with end of life. See IOM. 2006. Performance Measurement: Accelerating Improvement. National Academies Press: Washington, DC. ¹² Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF). *Counting Change: Measuring healthcare princes, Costs,*

and Spending. Princeton, NJ: RWJF; 2012. Available at http://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/webassets/2012/03/counting-change. Last accessed May 2014.

¹³ Stacey D, Légaré F, Col NF, et al., Decision aids for people facing health treatment or screening decisions, Cochrane Database Svst Rev. 2014, Issue 1: CD001431,

¹⁴ Teno JM, Gozalo PL, Bynum JW, et al. Change in end-of-life care for Medicare beneficiaries: site of death, place of care, and healthcare transitions in 2000, 2005, and 2009. JAMA. 2013;309(5):470-477.: Hall MJ, Levant S, DeFrances CJ. Trends in inpatient hospital deaths: National Hospital Discharge Survey, 2000–2010. NCHS Data Brief, 2013 Mar(118):1-8: .; National Center for Health Statistics. Health, United States, 2010: Chartbook with Special Feature on Death and Dying. Hyattsville, MD. 2011.; Tang ST. When death is imminent: Where terminally ill patients with cancer prefer to die and why. Cancer Nurs . 2003;26(3):245–251. ¹⁵ Lynch W, Ciucci C, Slover M. *Altarum Institute Survey of Consumer Healthcare Opinions*. Ann Arbor,

MI: Altarum Institute;2013. Available at http://altarum.org/sites/default/files/uploaded-related-files/2013-Spring-Survey-Consumer-Health-Care.pdf. Last accessed May 2014.

¹⁶ Longo, D.R. & S.H. Woolf. 2014. Rethinking the Information Priorities of Patients. JAMA 311(18):1857-1858.

² Auerbach DL, Kellermann AL. A decade of healthcare cost growth has wiped out real income gains for an average U.S. family. Health Aff. 2011;30(9):1-7.

³ Auerbach DL, Kellermann AL. A decade of healthcare cost growth has wiped out real income gains for an average U.S. family. Health Aff. 2011;30(9):1-7.

¹⁷ Healthcare Financial Managmeent Association (HRMA). Price Transparency Task Force. *Price* Transparency in Healthcare. Weschester, IL:HFMA: 2014. Available at

¹⁸ Reinhardt UE. The Disruptive innovation of price transparency in healthcare. JAMA. 2013;310(18):1927-1928.

¹⁹ Healthcare Financial Managmeent Association (HRMA). Price Transparency Task Force. *Price* Transparency in Healthcare. Weschester, IL:HFMA; 2014. Available at http://www.hfma.org/Content.aspx?id=22305. Last accessed May 2014.

²⁰ Delbanco S. Price Transparency Tools: the good news, the challenges, and the way forward. Health Affairs Blog, November 20, 2013. Available at http://healthaffairs.org/blog/2013/11/20/price-transparencytools-the-good-news-the-challenges-and-the-way-forward/ . Last accessed May 2014. ²¹ Catalyst for Payment Reform (CPR). *The State of the Art of Price Transparency Tools and Solutions*.

San Francisco, CA: CPR; 2013. Available at

http://www.catalyzepaymentreform.org/images/documents/stateoftheart.pdf. Last accessed May 2014. ²² Yegian, J.M., P. Dardess, M. Shannon, & K.L. Carman. 2013. Engaged patients will need comparative physician-level quality data and information about their out-of-pocket costs. Health Affairs 32(2): 328-337. ³ O'Kane, M., K. Buto, T. Alteras, et al. 2012. Demanding value from our healthcare: Motivating patient action to reduce waste in healthcare. IOM Discussion Paper. Washington, DC: Institute of Medicine.

Available at: <u>www.iom.edu/PatientsForValue</u>²⁴ Hibbard, J., and S. Sofaer. 2010. Best practices in public reporting no. 1: How to effectively present healthcare performance data to consumers. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; Hibbard, J. H., J. Greene, S. Sofaer, K. Firminger, and J. Hirsh, 2012, An experiment shows that a welldesigned report on costs and quality can help consumers choose high-value healthcare. Health Aff 31(3):560-568.; Hibbard, J. H., and E. Peters. 2003. Supporting informed consumer healthcare decisions: Data presentation approaches that facilitate the use of information in choice. Annu Rev Public Health 24:413-433.; Yegian, J.M., P. Dardess, M. Shannon, & K.L. Carman. 2013. Engaged patients will need comparative physician-level quality data and information about their out-of-pocket costs. Health Affairs 32(2): 328-337.; Longo, D.R. & S.H. Woolf. 2014. Rethinking the Information Priorities of Patients. JAMA 311(18):1857-1858. ²⁵ Kirsch IS, Jungeblut A, Jenkins L, et al.. Adult Literacy in America: A First Look at the Results of the

National Adult Literacy Survey (NALS), Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education: 1993. Available at http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=93275. Last accessed May 2014.

²⁶ Shaller D, Sofaer S, Findlay S, et al. Consumers and Quality-Driven Healthcare: A Call to Action. Health Affairs 2003; 22(2): 95-101

²⁷ Peters EM, Dieckmann N, Dixon A, Hibbard JH, Mertz CK. Less is More in Presenting Quality Information to Consumers. Medical Care Research and Review 2007;64(2):169-90.

²⁸ Hibbard, J., and P. Cunninghan. 2008. How engaged are consumers in their health and healthcare, and why does it matter? Washington, DC: Center for Studying Health System Change.; Hibbard, J. H., J. Stockard, E. R. Mahoney, and M. Tusler. 2004. Development of the patient activation measure (PAM): Conceptualizing and measuring activation in patients and consumers. Health Serv Res 39(4 Pt 1):1005-1026.: Hibbard, J. H., and M. Tusler, 2007. Assessing activation stage and employing a "next steps" approach to supporting patient self-management. J Ambul Care Manage 30(1):2-8.

Glanz K., Rimer BK. Theory at a Glance: A Guide for Health Promotion Practice. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute. 1997. ³⁰ Glanz K., Rimer BK. *Theory at a Glance: A Guide for Health Promotion Practice. Bethesda, MD:*

National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute. 1997.

³¹ Riggs, K.R. & P.A. Ubel. 2014. Overcoming Barriers to Discussing Out-of-Pocket Costs with Patients. JAMA Internal Medicine. Published online April 21, 2014. ³² Pew Research Internet Project. *Health Fact Sheet*. Washington, DC: Pew Research; 2014. Available at

http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheets/health-fact-sheet/. Last accessed May 2014.

³³ Pew Research Internet Project. *Health Fact Sheet*. Washington, DC: Pew Research; 2014. Available at http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheets/health-fact-sheet/. Last accessed May 2014.

http://www.hfma.org/Content.aspx?id=22305. Last accessed May 2014.

³⁴ Lynch W, Ciucci C, Slover M. *Altarum Institute Survey of Consumer Healthcare Opinions*. Ann Arbor, MI: Altarum Institute;2013. Available at <u>http://altarum.org/sites/default/files/uploaded-related-files/2013-Spring-Survey-Consumer-Health-Care.pdf</u>. Last accessed May 2014.